1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF T	THE STATE OF NEVADA	,
2	CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,	No.: 68443 Flectronically Filed	
3	Appellant,	Electronically Filed Apr 19 2016 01:04 Tracie K. Lindeman	1
5	v.	Clerk of Supreme C District Court Case No.: A-12-668833-C	Jourt
6	MAKANI KAI PAYO,	District Court Dept. No.: XV	
7	Respondent.		
8			
9			
10	APPELLANT'S RE	PLY BRIEF	
11	Appeal from a judgment	" -	
12	and various orders entered prior to trial in a negligence case,		
13	the Honorable Joe Hard Richard F. Scotti and Valor	* " - 1	
14			
15			
16	D '11 OD'		
17	Daniel L. O'Brien Nevada Bar No. 983		
18	Sr. Asst. General Counsel Office of the General Counsel		
19	Clark County School District 5100 West Sahara Avenue		
20	Las Vegas, NV 89146 Attorney for District		

1	I.			
2			TABLE OF CONTENTS Page(s)	
3	I.	TABL	E OF CONTENTSi-ii	
4	II.	TABL	E OF AUTHORITIES	
5		A.	Nevada Case Lawiii	
6	L. C.	B.	Other Case Lawiv-v	
7		C.	Statutes and Court Rulesv	
8		D.	Other Authorityv	
9	III.	REPL	Y POINTS AND AUTHORITIES1-16	
10		* •	Inherent risk doctrine1-7	
11			A. Makani's age at the time is irrelevant2-3	
12			B. The doctrine applies to public school P.E. classes3-7	
13		2.	Negligence7-10	
14			A. Duty to provide safety equipment7-8	
15			B. No evidence supports a finding of negligent supervision8-10	
16		3.	The decision to offer, equip and staff a	
17			floor hockey course is subject to discretionary immunity	
18		4.	Makani was not entitled to recover past medical	
19			expenses after the statute of limitations had expired	
20	///			

1	5. Makani was not entitled to recover future medical expenses absent competent medical testimony
2	testimony 15-14
3	IV. CONCLUSION
4	NRAP 28.2 AND NRAP 32, COMBINED CERTIFICATE OF ATTORNEY AND CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE
5	
6	AFFIRMATION
7	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	

II. 1 TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 2 Page(s) 3 NEVADA CASE LAW Auckenthaler v. Grundmeyer, 110 Nev. 682, 877 P.2d 4 1039 (1994)2 5 Butler v. Bayer, 123 Nev. 450, 168 P.3d 1055 (2007)8 6 Chastain v. Clark County School District, 109 Nev. 1172, 7 Davenport v. County of Clark, 111 Nev. 467, 469, 893 P.2d 8 9 Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Rest., 122 Nev. 317, 130 10 Foster v. Costco Wholesale Corp., 128 NAO 71, 291 P.3d 11 150 (2012)8 12 Hunter v. Gang, 132 NAO 22 (Nev. 04/07/2016)......2 13 Martinez v. Maruszczak, 123 Nev. 433, 439, 168 P.3d 720 14 15 Nardozzi v. Clark County School District, 108 Nev. 7, 9, 16 17 18 19 20 ///

1	OTHER CASE LAW
2	Baltierra v. Corona-Norco Unified Sch. Dist., 2006 Cal.App. Unpub. LEXIS 4007 (Cal.App. 2006)
3 4	<u>Cole v. BSA</u> , 725 S.E.2d 476 (S.C. 2011)4
5	DiGiose v. Bellmore-Merrick Central High Sch. Dist., 50 A.D.3d 623 (N.Y. 2008)
6	Gallegos v. Malco Enterprises of Nevada, Inc. 127 NAO 51, 255 P.3d 1287 (2011)
7	Hemady v. Long Beach Unified Sch. Dist., 143 Cal. App. 4th
8 9	566 (Cal.App. 2006)
10	<u>Lamphier v. Rome City Sch. Dist.</u> , 284 A.D.2d 989 (N.Y. 2001)
11	Lilley v. Elk Grove Unified Sch. Dist., 68 Cal.App.4th
12 13	939, (Cal App. 1998)
14	U.S.Dist. LEXIS 52184 (D.Nev. 2001)11, 12
15	Mehr v. Federation Internationale de Football Ass'n., 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 92779 (N.D. Cal. 2015)7
16	Nalwa v. Cedar Fair, LLP, 290 P.3d 1158, 1163 (Cal. 2012)
17 18	Nash v. Rapides Parish Sch. Dist., 188 So.2d 508 (La.App. 1996)
19	Nestor v. New York, 28 Misc.2d 70, 211 N.Y.S.2d 975
20	(N.Y. 1961)9

1	Rodriguez v. San Jose Unified Sch. Dist., 322 P.2d 70, 73 (Cal. 1958)
2	Rudzinski v. BB, 2010 U.S.Dist. LEXIS 68471 (D.N.C. 2010)
3	Shin v. Ahn, 165 P.3d 581 (Cal. 2007)
4	Wilson v. Biomat USA, Inc., 2011 U.S.Dist. LEXIS
5	126853 (D.Nev. 2011)
6	STATUTES AND COURT RULES:
7	NRS 11.190(4)(e)11, 12
8	NRS 41.032(c)10
9	NRS 41.03310
10	NRAP 28(c)1
11	NRCP 12(b)(5)15
12	NRCP 56(b)15
13	OTHER AUTHORITY:
14	Black's Law Dictionary 1617 (9th Ed. 2009)12
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	

III.

REPLY POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

An appellant's reply brief is properly limited to addressing new matter set forth in the respondent's brief. NRAP 28(c).

1. Inherent Risk Doctrine (Primary Implied Assumption of the Risk).

In response to the District's opening brief, Makani does not dispute that being struck in the face with a hockey stick was a risk inherent in the sport of floor hockey. Nor does Makani argue that the teacher did anything to unreasonably increase the risk of harm to Makani. Thus, if the inherent risk doctrine (primary implied assumption of the risk) applies in a physical education class, then the District owed Makani no duty to prevent the injury. Knight v. Jewett, 834 P.2d 696 (Cal. 1992).

Makani argues that, due to his age (eleven years old at the time of the accident), Makani "did not have the requisite mindset to fully comprehend the risks involved" [Resp. Ans. Brf. at page 14, Lines 4-13]. He also argues that the inherent risk doctrine does not apply in a physical education class taught in a

The District, in its opening brief, referenced authority which holds that the failure to provide safety equipment does not constitute conduct which increases the risk of harm to participants. Makani ignores the topic entirely, providing no argument and citing no authority that holds otherwise. See: Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Rest., 122 Nev. 317, 330 n. 38 (2006) [Matter unsupported by citation to authority or

cogent argument is properly disregarded].

public school where attendance is mandatory. Finally, Makani declares that the District assumed the risk of injury to Makani when it failed to require him to sign a written liability waiver² prior to playing floor hockey.

A. Makani's age at the time of the accident is irrelevant.

Makani's subjective appreciation of the risk is not relevant to the determination of whether primary implied assumption of the risk applies. *See:* Shin v. Ahn, 165 P.3d 581, 590 (Cal. 2007) [court stating "a court need not ask what risks a particular plaintiff subjectively knew of and chose to encounter, but instead must evaluate the fundamental nature of the sport" in order to determine whether a particular defendant owes a duty to protect a plaintiff from an inherent risk]. *See, also:* Lamphier v. Rome City Sch. Dist., 284 A.D.2d 989 (N.Y. 2001) [court applying inherent risk doctrine to defeat claim against school district by 12 year old struck in face while playing floor hockey].

Moreover, Counsel's argument concerning Makani's "mindset" is not evidence. Hunter v. Gang, 132 NAO 22 at page 18 (Nev. 04/07/16). The only evidence concerning Makani's appreciation of the risks involved in playing floor hockey was Makani's testimony, as an adult, that even at age eleven, he fully

This argument is a *nonsequiter*. Had there been a written waiver, Makani's claims would have been precluded by express assumption of the risk. <u>Auckenthaler</u> v. Grundmeyer, 110 Nev. 682, 685-686, (1994).

appreciated that he could suffer a serious injury if he was struck in the face with a hockey stick. AA II-0210 [Makani Depos. at page 30, Lines 10-13]. Thus, counsel's *argument* concerning Makani's subjective recognition of the risk in this case is legally irrelevant and factually unsupported.

B. Primary implied assumption of the risk applies to a floor hockey unit conducted as part of a public school P.E. class.

Although Makani *argues* that the inherent risk doctrine does not apply in a physical education class where participation is mandatory, Makani cites no authority in support of this proposition. Moreover, Makani makes no cogent argument why this Court should adopt a policy of discouraging experimentation in physical education classes in this state. Edwards, *supra*.

The policy underlying the inherent risk doctrine is to "avoid chilling vigorous participation in or sponsorship of recreation activities by imposing a tort duty to eliminate or reduce the risks of harm inherent in those activities." Nalwa v. Cedar Fair, LLP, 290 P.3d 1158, 1163 (Cal. 2012). This policy is nowhere better served than in public schools where providing exciting, new and challenging physical education classes serves the salutatory purpose of keeping students interested in maintaining an active lifestyle.

Courts considering this issue have held that compulsory attendance laws, alone, do not make schools insurers of the safety of pupils at play or elsewhere,

Rodrigues v. San Jose Unified School District, 322 P.2d 70, 73 (Cal. 1958), that 1 liability does not turn on whether the activity is organized, unorganized, supervised 2 3 or unsupervised, Cole v. BSA, 725 S.E.2d 476, 479 (S.C. 2011) [court holding that the nature of the sport and not the level of organized play determines whether 4 primary implied assumption of the risk applies], and that primary implied 5 6 7 8 9 10

assumption of the risk is not negated simply because a pupil/teacher relationship exists. Lilley v. Elk Grove Unified School District, 68 Cal. App. 4th 939, 943-944 (Cal.App. 1998). More directly on point (albeit in an unpublished opinion), a California Court of Appeals directly addressed the issue, rejecting the proposition that a greater duty

is owed to students enrolled in a physical education class:

"Appellant is trying to create a distinction where none exists, at least for purposes of liability and application of primary assumption of risk. As far as we can tell, the duty owed by a teacher or school district to a student enrolled in a regularly scheduled class is no different than that owed to a student participating in an extracurricular activity, and appellant has failed to demonstrate otherwise. The only duty owed by school (sic) and teachers with respect to inherently dangerous activities is to avoid increasing the risk beyond what is inherent in the activity."

17

18

19

11

12

13

14

15

16

Baltierra v. Corona-Norco Unified Sch. Dist., 2006 Cal.App. Unpub. LEXIS 4007 (Cal.App. 2006).

Although not binding authority, the rationale applied by the <u>Baltierra</u> court is persuasive. There is simply no good public policy goal to be served by increasing the liability of public school teachers or coaches simply because instruction is provided in a physical education class rather than in conjunction with an extracurricular activity. The social cost of doing so would be to chill creativity and to deprive students who are unable to participate in extracurricular activities the ability to engage in and receive instruction concerning new and challenging physical activities, simply because it is theoretically³ possible for them to sustain an injury.

Makani relies upon a single case, <u>Hemady v. Long Beach Unified Sch. Dist.</u>, 143 Cal.App.4th 566 (Cal.App. 2006), for the proposition that the inherent risk doctrine does not apply under the facts of this case. Resp. Ans. Brief at page 15, Lines 14-19. Makani's reliance upon <u>Hemady</u> is misplaced.

This is particularly so in this case, where the undisputed evident is that floor hockey, when adopted, was considered a low risk activity, AA IV-1837 [A/I 5 at page 5], and neither Makani nor the District was aware of any prior, similar injuries. AA II-0211; 0216-0217 [Makani Depos. At page 31, Lines 15-17; at pages 36-37, Lines 25, 1]; AA III 0560 [Wheelan Depos. At page 69, Lines 19-22 (no similar injuries had occurred in the District prior to Makani's injury)]; AA VII-1317 [Peterson Depos. At page 159, Lines 5-15 (teacher testifying that no one in one of his classes had ever suffered a similar injury during floor hockey)]; AA VII-1357 [Murphy Testimony at page 199, Lines 8-20 (Principal testifying that in all his years at Woodbury Middle School, he was unaware of any prior similar injuries occurring in a floor hockey class)].

Unlike this case, the court of appeals in <u>Hemady</u> first concluded that the inherent risk doctrine did not apply to the sport of golf. The appellate court's conclusion was promptly reversed in <u>Shin v. Ahn</u>, 165 P.3d 581, 590 (Cal. 2007) [court finding that golf does involve inherent risks to which the inherent risk doctrine applies]. *See, also*: <u>Rudzinski v. BB</u>, 2010 U.S.Dist. LEXIS 68471 (Dist. N.C. 2010) [court rejecting holding in <u>Hemady</u> and cataloguing cases applying the inherent risk analysis to golf].

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Not only is Hemady no longer good authority, the facts in this case more closely resemble those in Shin than in Hemady. The players in this case were actively competing in a dynamic, competitive, team sport. They were not simply standing in line, as in Hemady, passively waiting to take their turn on a driving range. This was not a situation where, as in Hemady, a co-participant had time to contemplate his next move before swinging his golf club. Nor is it a situation wherein a Coach (or ten coaches) could have intervened in time to prevent Plaintiff's injury. AA II-0214 [the incident occurred suddenly and without warning]; AA I-0166 and AA II-0214 [the incident occurred so quickly that Makani had no time to avoid the injury]; AA II-0236 [incident came "out of the blue" and occurred in a "split second"]. See, also, Makani's trial testimony at AA VI-1141, wherein Makani admits that it would not have been possible for Mr. Peterson to intervene in time to prevent the injury.

Makani identified no valid legal authority and produced no evidence (expert, expert report or opinions or learned treatises) supporting the proposition that a different duty should apply in a P.E. class. On this record, the district court committed legal error when it denied the District's motion to dismiss, the subsequent motion for summary judgment and when it submitted this case to a jury on general negligence principles.

2. Negligence.

Makani argues that a substantial issue of material fact existed as to (A) duty [whether the District was negligent for not providing Makani with safety equipment]; and (B) whether additional training, supervision or equipment could have prevented the injury to Makani. Resp. Ans. Brf. at page 17, Lines 7-14.

A. Duty.

Makani does not cite a single case or other authority which holds for the proposition that the District owed him a duty to provide him with safety equipment for use while playing floor hockey. The District, on the other hand, cited to considerable authority which holds that no such duty existed. Lamphier, supra [no duty to provide eye protection to 12 year old floor hockey player]; Mehr v. Federation Internationale de Football Ass'n., 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 92779 (N.D. Cal. 2015) [no duty to youth soccer players]; DiGiose v. Bellmore-Merrick Central High School District, 50 A.D.3d 623, 855 N.Y.S.2d 199 (N.Y. 2008) [no duty to

provide mats for protection of cheerleader performing stunt]. The Court need not consider Makani's arguments that are not supported by citation to facts of record or pertinent authority. <u>Edwards</u>, *supra*.

In fact, it was undisputed that the District did not provide any head protection for Makani's use. Thus, there simply was no substantial question of material fact to be resolved by the jury. The remaining issue was purely an issue of law for the court to decide. <u>Butler v. Bayer</u>, 123 Nev. 450, 461 (2007). Summary judgment is appropriate in a negligence action where no duty exists. <u>Foster v. Costco Wholesale Corp.</u>, 128 NAO 71, 291 P.3d 150, 153 (2012).

The refusal to grant summary judgment on this issue, together with the subsequent failure to instruct the jury on the applicable duty, constitutes legal error.

B. Negligent supervision.

Makani similarly cites to no authority, and has produced no evidence, to support the proposition that floor hockey constituted an unreasonably dangerous activity.⁴

Makani does not cite to a single thing that Mr. Peterson, his teacher, did that might arguably have been negligent. Makani testified that Mr. Peterson was

⁴ The only *evidence* regarding the issue, as set forth in fn. 3, *ante*, is that floor hockey was not a known, extraordinarily dangerous activity.

present at all times, he acted as referee during the game, he actively supervised the game the entire time, he provided safety instruction prior to play and he enforced safety concerns during play. He specifically testified that he did not believe that Mr. Peterson did anything to cause his injury, AA II-0259 [Makani Depos. at page 79, Lines 23-25]; and that he did not believe that Mr. Peterson did anything wrong. AA II-0260 [Makani Depos. at page 80, Lines 3-6]. Moreover, he could not articulate how more or different supervision might have prevented the accident. AA II-0229 [Makani Depos. at page 49, Lines 1-10].

Nor do the undisputed facts of this case demonstrate that additional or different supervision could have prevented this accident. AA II-0214 [the incident occurred suddenly and without warning]; AA I-0166 and AA II-0214 [the incident occurred so quickly that Makani had no time to avoid the injury]; AA II-0236 [incident came "out of the blue" and occurred in a "split second"]. *See, also*, Makani's trial testimony at AA VI-1141, wherein Makani admits that it would not have been possible for Mr. Peterson to intervene in time to prevent the injury.

Under these circumstances, Makani's negligent supervision cause of action fails as a matter of law. Nestor v. New York, 28 Misc.2d 70, 72-73, 211 N.Y.S.2d 975 (N.Y. 1961) [where injury occurred suddenly, even more vigilant supervision could not have prevented the injury thus proximate cause was not shown]; Nash v. Rapides Parish Sch. Bd., 188 So.2d 508 (La.App. 1996) [court holding that

presence or absence of teacher did not matter where injury occurred so suddenly that even if the teacher had been standing right next to the student, he or she could not have prevented it].

3. The District's decision to offer a floor hockey class is subject to discretionary immunity.

Makani, cites NRS 41.033 and NRS 41.032 interchangeably arguing that sovereign immunity does not shield the District from liability because it had actual knowledge that a student could be injured playing floor hockey. Resp. Ans. Brf. at pages 21-22, Lines 13-20; 1-2; at page 23, Lines 7-10. However, NRS 41.033 applies by its own terms to premises defects, none of which have been alleged or proven to exist in this case. <u>Davenport v. County of Clark</u>, 111 Nev. 467, 469 (1995); <u>Nardozzi v. Clark County School District</u>, 108 Nev. 7, 9 (1992); <u>Chastain v. Clark County School District</u>, 109 Nev. 1172, 1175 (1993).

This argument is a *red herring*. The District never argued that NRS 41.033 provided discretionary immunity in this case.

Makani does not even address the District's extensive argument that NRS 41.032(2) provides discretionary immunity with respect to decisions concerning the adoption of new classes, how to equip those classes, how to staff those classes and how to pay for those classes. *See*: Appellant's Opening Brief at pages 18-20.

| |//

Instead, Makani focuses his arguments exclusively on negligent supervision and retention issues in general. Resp. Ans. Brf., pages 21-24.

Makani asked the District Court to permit the jury in this case to "second-guess" the decisions of the District respecting whether to offer a floor hockey class, how much to spend on equipment and how to staff the activity. These are precisely the sort of "day-to-day" decisions that discretionary immunity was intended to protect. Martinez v. Maruszczak, 123 Nev. 433, 439 (2007).

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