Jn the Supreme Court of the State of DebadaCLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,
Appellant,Electronically Filed
Mar 18 2016 02:33 p.m.
Tracie K. Lindeman
Supreme CourcNerk of Septeme CourtV.MAKANI KAI PAYO,
Respondent.Supreme CourcNerk of Septeme Court

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Robert O. Kurth, Jr. Nevada Bar No. 4659 **KURTH LAW OFFICE** 3420 North Buffalo Drive Las Vegas, NV 89129 Tel: (702) 438-5810 Fax: (702) 459-1585 Email: kurthlawoffice@gmail.com Attorney for Respondent, MAKANI KAI PAYO

1	In the Supreme Court of	the State of Penada	
2		ine Blate of Izebaba	
3	CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,		
4	Appellant,		
5	v.	Supreme Court No. 68443	
6 7	MAKANI KAI PAYO,		
7	Respondent.		
8 9			
9 10			
10	RESPONDENT'S ANSV	VERING BRIEF	
11			
12	COMES NOW the Respondent,	Makani Kai Payo ("MAKANI"), by	
14	and through his counsel of record, Robert	O. Kurth. Jr. of the KURTH LAW	
15			
16	OFFICE, and hereby submits his Responde	nt's Answering Brief in accordance	
17	with the provisions of NRAP 28.		
18	Dated this <u>17th</u> of March, 201	6.	
19	Despec	tfully Submitted by:	
20	-	H LAW OFFICE	
21	/s/ Rot	pert O. Kurth, Jr.	
22	ROBEI	RT O. KURTH, JR.	
23	Nevada Bar No. 4659 Attorney for Respondent,		
24		NI KAI PAYO	
25			
26			
27			
28			

1	In the Supreme Court of	the State of Revada
2	CLARK COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT,	
3 4	Appellant,	Supreme Court No. 68443
5	V.	
6	MAKANI KAI PAYO,	
7	Respondent.	
8		
9		
10		
11	NRAP 26.1 DISCI	
12	The undersigned counsel of rec	cord certifies that the following are
13	persons and entities as described in NRAP 26.	1(a) and must be disclosed:
14		
15		T
16	Corporate Affiliations: N	Jone
17	Counsel for Respondent:	Robert O. Kurth, Jr.
18	Pseudonyms:	Jone
19		
20		
21	Dated this <u>17th</u> day of March, 2	016.
22	Respec	tfully Submitted by:
23	KURT	H LAW OFFICE
24	<u>/s/ Rob</u>	ert O. Kurth, Jr.
25		RT O. KURTH, JR. Bar No. 4659
26		ey for Respondent,
27	MAKA	NI KAI PAYO
28		

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES	ii-iii
3	JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT	iii-iv
4	STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES	1
5	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	
6	STATEMENT OF THE FACTS	3 -12
7	ARGUMENT	
8	CONCLUSION	
9	CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE	
0	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE	
1		

1	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
2	CASES:
3 4	 Bugay v. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist., No. 63652, 2014 Nev. LEXIS 1921 (Nev. Nov. 20, 2014)
5	• Chastain v. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist., 109 Nev. 1172, 866 P.2d 286 (1993)
6 7	• Doe ex rel. Knackert v. Estes, 926 F. Supp. 979 (D. Nev. 1996)
8	• Hemady v. Long Beach Unified Sch. Dist., 143 Cal. App. 4th 566 (2006)
9 10	• Hogle v. Hall, 112 Nev. 599, 916 P.2d 814 (1996)
11	• <i>Kerns v. Hoppe</i> , No. 55615, 2012 Nev. LEXIS 425, at *10 quoting <i>Sierra Pacific v. Anderson</i> , 77 Nev. 68, 358 P.2d 892 (1961) (Nev. Mar. 21, 2012)
12	T ucific v. mucrson, 77 nev. 00, 550 1.20 052 (1501) (nev. war. 21, 2012)
13	 McCarthy v. Underhill, 03:05-CV-0177-LRH-RJJ, 2006 U.S. Dist. Lexis 25555 (D. Nev. Feb 16, 2006)
14 15	• Mizushima v. Sunset Ranch, 103 Nev. 259, 737 P.2d 1158 (1987)
16	• Nardozzi v. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist., 108 Nev. 7, 823 P.2d 285 (1992)
17 18	• Peterson v. Miranda, 991 F. Supp. 2d 1109 (2014)
19	• Shere v. Davis, 95 Nev.491 (1979)
20	• Turner v. Mandalay Sports Entm't, LLC, 124 Nev. 213, 180 P.3d 1172
21	(2008)
22	• Walker v. Burkham, 63 Nev. 75, 165 P.2d 161 (1946)
23	• Williams v. Underhill, 03:05-CV-0175-LRH (RAM), 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
24 25	24929 (D. Nev. Feb 16, 2006)
26	STATUTES:
27	• NRS 12.080
28	

i

1	• NRS 41.031
2	 NRS 41.032 NRS 41.033
3	 NRS 41.035 NRS 41.035
4	
5	JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT
6	A. <u>The Basis for the Supreme Court's Jurisdiction.</u>
7	Nevada Constitution Article 6 Section 4 states:
8	1. The Supreme Court and the court of appeals have
9	appellate jurisdiction in all civil cases arising in district courts, and also on questions of law alone in all criminal cases in which the
10	offense charged is within the original jurisdiction of the district courts.
11	The Supreme Court shall fix by rule the jurisdiction of the court of appeals and shall provide for the review, where appropriate, of
12	appeals decided by the court of appeals.
13	NRS 2.090. The Supreme Court has jurisdiction to review upon appeal:
14	1. A judgment in an action or proceeding, commenced in a district court,
15	when the matter in dispute is embraced in the general jurisdiction of the Supreme Court, and to review upon appeal from such judgment
16	any intermediate order or decision involving the merits and
17	necessarily affecting the judgment and, in a criminal action, any order changing or refusing to change the place of trial of the action or
18	proceeding.
19	2. An order granting or refusing a new trial in such cases; an order in a
20	civil action changing or refusing to change the place of trial of the
21	action or proceeding after motion is made therefor in the cases in which that court has appellate jurisdiction; and from an order granting
22	or refusing to grant an injunction or mandamus in the case provided
23	for by law.
24	NRS 2.110 provides that:
25	The Supreme Court may reverse, affirm or modify the judgment or order appealed from as to any or all of the parties, and may, if necessary, order
26	a new trial, and in a criminal action, order the new trial to be had in the
27	proper place. On a direct appeal from an order in a civil action granting a motion to change the place of trial of an action or refusing to change the
28	motion to change the place of that of an action of refusing to change the
•	i

refusing to change the place of trial must not be appealed from on an appeal from a judgment, but only on direct appeal from the order changing or refusing to change the place of trial. When the judgment or order appealed from is reversed or modified, this Court may make, or direct the inferior court to make, complete restoration of all property and rights lost by the erroneous judgment or order. The Supreme Court has jurisdiction to affirm or modify a judgment or order. Additionally, the Supreme Court has the authority to refuse a new trial if a matter has been argued before a lower court and the lower court did not err in its judgment.
 order appealed from is reversed or modified, this Court may make, or direct the inferior court to make, complete restoration of all property and rights lost by the erroneous judgment or order. The Supreme Court has jurisdiction to affirm or modify a judgment or order. Additionally, the Supreme Court has the authority to refuse a new trial if a matter has been argued before a lower court and the lower court did not err in its judgment.
 direct the inferior court to make, complete restoration of all property and rights lost by the erroneous judgment or order. The Supreme Court has jurisdiction to affirm or modify a judgment or order. Additionally, the Supreme Court has the authority to refuse a new trial if a matter has been argued before a lower court and the lower court did not err in its judgment.
 The Supreme Court has jurisdiction to affirm or modify a judgment or order. Additionally, the Supreme Court has the authority to refuse a new trial if a matter has been argued before a lower court and the lower court did not err in its judgment.
 The Supreme Court has jurisdiction to affirm or modify a judgment or order. Additionally, the Supreme Court has the authority to refuse a new trial if a matter has been argued before a lower court and the lower court did not err in its judgment.
 order. Additionally, the Supreme Court has the authority to refuse a new trial if a matter has been argued before a lower court and the lower court did not err in its judgment.
¹⁰ ¹¹ ¹¹ ¹² ¹³ ¹⁴ ¹⁵ ¹⁶ ¹⁷
 matter has been argued before a lower court and the lower court did not err in its judgment.
11 judgment. 13 14 15 16 17 1
13 14 15 16 17
14 15 16 17
15 16 17
16 17
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26 27
28
28 i

1	STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
2 3 4 5	1. The District Court did not commit legal error when it denied CCSD's motion to dismiss and subsequent motion for summary judgment and allowed MAKANI's case to proceed to trial because CCSD owed a duty of care to MAKANI that is not covered by the inherent risk doctrine.
5 6 7 8	2. The District Court did not commit reversible error when it denied CCSD's motion for summary judgment and allowed MAKANI's case to proceed to trial because MAKANI clearly identified a substantial question of material fact.
9 10 11	3. The District Court did not abuse its discretion when it allowed MAKANI to argue that CCSD's decision to offer floor hockey as an optional sport in the physical education curriculum constituted actionable negligence when CCSD failed to provide sufficient safety equipment and procedures.
12 13 14	4. The District Court did not commit legal error or abuse its discretion when it permitted MAKANI to pursue and recover past medical expenses, which were incurred by his parents when he was a minor.
15 16 17	5. The District Court did not abuse its discretion when it permitted MAKANI to pursue recovery of future medical expenses where an expert witness did not testify at the trial as to proximate cause, reasonableness or necessity.
18	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
19 20	On or about May 12, 2004, the Respondent, Makani Kai Payo
20 21	("MAKANI") was struck by another student's hockey stick while playing
22	field/floor hockey in his physical education class. The student's strike seriously
23 24	injured MAKANI's head and left eye. MAKANI required extensive surgery to
25	repair the damage done to his left eye. MAKANI argued that the Appellant, Clark
26 27	County School District ("CCSD"), owed him, as well as other students, a duty to
28	
	1

provide helmets, face protector(s), safety glasses, or other safety equipment to MAKANI prior to playing field/floor hockey. He also argued that the rules were not properly followed.

MAKANI filed his Complaint on or about September 21, 2012. MAKANI's Complaint detailed the medical expenses he incurred between 2004 and 2007. CCSD did not dispute the medical expenses incurred by MAKANI, as MAKANI provided CCSD with numerous supporting documents of medical expenses incurred by MAKANI as a result of the May 12, 2004 incident, which summary is set forth as follows:

TOTAL MEDICAL EXPENSES:	\$ 48,288.06 PLUS
Tenaya Surgical Center	\$ 2,194.00
Southern Hills Hospital	\$ 599.00
Dr. Loo / Retina Consultants of NV	\$ 1,407.60
Dr. Carr / NV Institute of Ophthalmology	\$ 12,075.00 PLUS
EPMG	\$ 304.80
Summit Anesthesia Consultants	\$ 1,170.00
Medschool Assoc. South	\$ 466.44
Southwest Ambulance	\$ 654.72
University Medical Center	\$ 29,416.50

Respondent MAKANI filed an amended complaint on or about October 14, 2013 in accordance with the ruling from Appellant's Motion to Dismiss which was granted in part, and denied in part on August 21, 2013. Appellant proceeded to file another Motion to Dismiss on or about March 5, 2014

1	which was denie	d on April 7, 2014. Appellant CCSD filed a	Motion for Summary
2	Judgment on Ap	ril 8, 2015, which was denied on May 11, 20	15. The District
3	Court held that there was a genuine issue of a material fact to be determined and a		
4 5			
6	judgment could i	not be granted as a matter of law.	
7		June 2, 2015, the jury entered a verdict in fav	or of MAKANI as
8	follows:		
9	1)	Past medical and related expenses:	\$48,288.06
10	2)	Future medical and related expenses:	\$10,000.00
11	3)	Past pain, suffering, disability, and loss of enjoyment of life:	\$2,000.00
12	4)	Future pain, suffering, disability, and	\$ 0.00
13	, ,	Loss of enjoyment of life:	φ 0.00
14		TOTAL AWARD:	\$60,288.06
15			
10			
16 17	However, on Jun	ne 16, 2015, the District Court entered an Ord	ler reducing the jury
17		ne 16, 2015, the District Court entered an Ord ent to \$50,000.00 per NRS 41.035.	ler reducing the jury
			ler reducing the jury
17 18	verdict's judgme	ent to \$50,000.00 per NRS 41.035.	
17 18 19	verdict's judgme On	ent to \$50,000.00 per NRS 41.035. <u>STATEMENT OF THE FACTS</u> or about May 12, 2004, the Respondent, Mak	cani Kai Payo
17 18 19 20	verdict's judgme On ("MAKANI"), w	ent to \$50,000.00 per NRS 41.035. <u>STATEMENT OF THE FACTS</u> or about May 12, 2004, the Respondent, Mak vas an 11 year old minor child and 6 th grade s	cani Kai Payo tudent who sustained
17 18 19 20 21	verdict's judgme On ("MAKANI"), w injuries, which a	ent to \$50,000.00 per NRS 41.035. <u>STATEMENT OF THE FACTS</u> or about May 12, 2004, the Respondent, Mak vas an 11 year old minor child and 6 th grade s re the subject matter of his Second Amended	cani Kai Payo tudent who sustained Complaint. The
 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 	verdict's judgme On ("MAKANI"), w injuries, which a	ent to \$50,000.00 per NRS 41.035. <u>STATEMENT OF THE FACTS</u> or about May 12, 2004, the Respondent, Mak vas an 11 year old minor child and 6 th grade s	cani Kai Payo tudent who sustained Complaint. The
 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 	verdict's judgme On ("MAKANI"), w injuries, which a Appellant, Clark	ent to \$50,000.00 per NRS 41.035. <u>STATEMENT OF THE FACTS</u> or about May 12, 2004, the Respondent, Mak vas an 11 year old minor child and 6 th grade s re the subject matter of his Second Amended	cani Kai Payo tudent who sustained Complaint. The cal subdivision of the
 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 	verdict's judgme On ("MAKANI"), w injuries, which a Appellant, Clark State of Nevada	ent to \$50,000.00 per NRS 41.035. <u>STATEMENT OF THE FACTS</u> or about May 12, 2004, the Respondent, Mak vas an 11 year old minor child and 6 th grade s re the subject matter of his Second Amended County School District ("CCSD") is a politic	cani Kai Payo tudent who sustained Complaint. The cal subdivision of the is to administer the
 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 	verdict's judgme On ("MAKANI"), w injuries, which a Appellant, Clark State of Nevada	ent to \$50,000.00 per NRS 41.035. <u>STATEMENT OF THE FACTS</u> or about May 12, 2004, the Respondent, Mak vas an 11 year old minor child and 6 th grade s re the subject matter of his Second Amended County School District ("CCSD") is a politic or other governmental entity, whose purpose	cani Kai Payo tudent who sustained Complaint. The cal subdivision of the is to administer the

a school located within the CCSD; MAKANI attended Woodbury and sustained his injuries during school hours.

MAKANI was attending his physical education class where he was required to participate and play field/floor hockey (hereinafter referred to as either "field" or "floor" hockey). Todd Petersen was MAKANI's Physical Education teacher, who supervised the class and the game of field hockey. Mr. Petersen went over some of the rules of field hockey before MAKANI and other students were permitted to play. Mr. Petersen was the only referee/teacher in charge of monitoring, supervising, and watching the game of field hockey that day. AA VIII-1490. However, Mr. Petersen did not provide helmets, face protector(s), safety glasses or other safety equipment to MAKANI or the other students prior to playing field hockey. AA VIII-1493. Moreover, instead of using five members in a team, as recommended by the intramural rules, Mr. Petersen split a large group of at least 40 students into four different teams of at least 10 students per team. AA VII-1320. Additionally, instead of using a disc or hockey puck, a tennis ball was used. AA VIII-1491. Lastly, the school did not require the students or parents to sign a liability waiver based on the potential hazards of the game. The school did not require any students or parents to sign any type of liability waiver prior to the May 12, 2004 incident. AA VIII-1492.

The evidence adduced at trial showed that they played the game

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

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